HISTORY OF HEMPSTEAD HARBOR


An 1878 Lithograph of Hempstead Harbor from William Cullen Bryant’s House in Roslyn Harbor

Human presence in the Hempstead Harbor area dates back to the days of Native American settlements, perhaps as early as 3500 B.C.  Europeans first settled in the area in 1643 when Robert Fordham & John Carmen sailed across Long Island Sound from Connecticut and landed in what is now called Roslyn.  They proceeded south and started a settlement which they called “Hempstead” (now Hempstead Village).  The site was ideal – two streams came together at the edge of a vast meadow that stretched across most of what is now central Nassau County).  That meadow, which was used for farming became known as the Hempstead Plains (the only prarie located east of the Mississippi).  Because water transport was essential for hauling goods and getting off of Long Island, a harbor for this community was an absolute necessity.  The protected harbor that became known as Hempstead Harbor was chosen over the more treacherous south shore waters.  Since Hempstead was the first European settlement on Long Island, Hempstead Harbor can be viewed as the first colonial harbor.

The following year (1644), other settlers arrived from Connecticut and chose to settle in what is now Roslyn.  They called their community Hempstead Harbor and found the Harbor’s shores to be rich in fish and shellfish and surrounded by gentle and fertile lands, with available freshwater and easy access to Long Island Sound for transportation purposes.  

Soon thereafter small towns were established at the focal points of activity along the Hempstead Harbor waterfront, key among which were Roslyn and Glen Cove, while much of the outlying area (including much of present-day Flower Hill and Sands Point, and the northern portion of present-day Glen Cove) was used for farming.  Other portions of the shoreline were preserved largely intact as wealthy industrialists purchased expansive tracts of land and built the impressive estates of the “Gold Coast”.

In its early days, Roslyn had an intimate connection to the harbor, as evidenced by its prior names, Head of the Harbor and Hempstead Harbor.  The energy of the headwater stream powered mills, one of which still stands on Old Northern Boulevard and is the subject of an ongoing preservation campaign.  The Roslyn waterfront was once a bustling port, handling a wide variety of commodities, which made it the most important community on the harbor at that time.  However, by 1900, siltation of the lower harbor made navigation difficult, such that larger vessels had to be off-loaded in order for goods to be delivered to the shore.  Eventually, shipping to Roslyn became impractical, and its status as a port faded.

Like Roslyn, Glen Cove played an important early role in the development of Hempstead Harbor which was centered on water-related commerce, commencing with mill operations in the late 1600s at the head of Glen Cove Creek.  Over time, Glen Cove became a regional center of industrial activity, especially in Glen Cove Creek which provided deep-draft, protected berthing.  In the early 1880s, Glen Cove became a pottery center, using clay obtained locally from the Garvies Point area.  The industrial boom in Glen Cove took off in earnest during the mid-1800s, with the establishment of the Duryea Corn Starch Manufacturing Company.  Although contributing mightily to the local economy, the corn starch plant also produced prodigious quantities of organic waste which were discharged freely into Glen Cove Creek.  The decay of this waste material destroyed the ecology of the creek and generated obnoxious odors that permeated the surrounding communities.  The Duryea facility closed at the turn of the century, but was followed by even more intensive industry, involving even greater environmental hazards, including the Li Tungsten and Mattiace operations on sites which currently are undergoing major remediation (see Section 3.3.1.4).

Glen Cove historically has been a key terminal for passenger ship travel to New York City, with steamboat service out of The Landing (near present-day Morgan Park) commencing in 1828.  This supported a thriving tourist industry, with several major hotels operating in the vicinity of The Landing.  Additionally, steamboat operations made it possible for wealthy New York City businessmen to maintain summer homes in the Hempstead Harbor area (other landings occurred at Sands Point, Glenwood, and Roslyn) while also commuting to their offices in Manhattan, which supported the establishment of the “Gold Coast” estates.

Glenwood Landing was another important area of industrial development during the 1900s, due in large part to the occurrence of deep water near the shore in the natural channel between the tip of Bar Beach and the harbor’s eastern shore.  The Nassau Power and Light Company constructed a small, electric power plant on this shorefront in the early 1900s.  This plant subsequently was expanded to accommodate increasing regional electrical demands, resulting in the conspicuous brick buildings and smoke stacks that tower some 246 feet above the community.  Between 1908 and 1970, the world-renowned Fyfe Shipyard operated in Glenwood Landing on property adjacent to the existing power plant.  The current Exxon Mobil facility adjacent to the power plant began operating in 1923, after closure of the Socony-Vacuum distribution facility at this location.  Prior to this industrialization, during the late 1800s, Glenwood Landing supported a tourist trade, with two hotels on the east side of Shore Road, between Scudders Pond and Glenwood Road, and another on the southwest corner of Glenwood Road and Schoolhouse Hill Road.

Like Roslyn, Glen Cove and Glenwood Landing, the early development of Sea Cliff was controlled strongly by its coastal geography.  While the three former areas possess (or initially possessed) good vessel access to Hempstead Harbor, Sea Cliff’s location atop a high bluff hindered water-borne commerce.  However, the scenic beauty of Sea Cliff and its recreational amenities (e.g., fishing, swimming, boating, etc.) did attract a booming tourist trade and, starting in the 1800s, ferries and steamboats delivered a large number of seasonal vacationers who ascended to their hotels by way of an inclined railway along the bluff face.

Beginning around the 1920s, many of the large estates and farm tracts in the area around Hempstead Harbor were subdivided for single-family home construction.  This type of development, on varying lot sizes depending on the local zoning requirements, characterizes much of the area in the five villages, the unincorporated communities of Port Washington and Glenwood Landing, and the northern portion of the City of Glen Cove.

The thick glacial deposits on the western shore of the harbor were mined for sand and gravel to serve the construction boom in New York City during the early and middle part of the twentieth century.  It is estimated that as much as 140 million cubic yards of material were excavated from this area.  The legacy of the Hempstead Harbor mining industry is evident today.  The landscape at this location has been significantly and irreversibly altered: the high, vegetated bluffs that previously dominated the waterfront here were replaced by the flattened area of the former mine (now occupied largely by the Harbor Links Golf Course).  Some of the pilings associated with the mining operation are still visible in the nearshore waters.  Aggregate trans-shipment – involving the receipt of material by barge for trucking to inland markets, subsequent to the termination of active mining in Port Washington – still operates at its historic location just north of Bar Beach.  One of the most notorious relics of the past mining industry, approximately 70 derelict barges that were abandoned in the western portion of the lower harbor, finally were removed from these tidal flats in 1993 following a sustained local effort over many years.

At one time, Hempstead Harbor was an important area for the shellfishing industry, providing abundant quantities of such species as clams, oysters, and mussels.  However, after years of harvesting, quantities dwindled.  Additionally, the deleterious effects of discharges from the adjacent, developed uplands caused water quality conditions in the harbor to deteriorate.  As a result, the harbor has been closed for shellfish harvesting since 1966.

The history of Hempstead Harbor has been characterized by dramatic changes and strong contrasts.  The early settlers enjoyed a pristine coastal water body that yielded abundant natural resources for their use, while also readily serving their commercial needs.  However, heavy industrialization across two centuries led to the general deterioration of the area.  More recently, a concerted and energetic initiative by residents, government, key property owners and facility operators has resulted in dramatic improvements to both the environment and quality of life in and around the harbor.  The entire area in Hempstead Harbor (extending out to a line between Mott Point in the Village of Sands Point and the Morgan Park breakwater, and excluding the innermost section comprising Roslyn Creek) has been designated by the New York State Department of State and Department of Environmental Conservation as a Significant Coastal Fish and Wildlife Habitat, due to its extensive tidal wetlands, its use by waterfowl as a wintering area, and its productivity with respect to shellfish and finfish.  There has been expanded recreational use of these waters – anglers, swimmers, and boaters are returning in increasing numbers.  With the substantial improvement in the physical condition of the harbor, the aesthetic appeal of the waterfront also has been renewed, such that more people are being drawn back to enjoy the simple pleasure of viewing the harbor.  However, significant work remains ahead.

Restoration efforts in Hempstead Harbor must deal with the legacies of the past: industry no longer dumps chemicals freely, but hazardous waste sites dot the harbor’s shores; sewage treatment plants have been built and upgraded, but sanitary discharges to on-site cesspools in large portions of the watershed still leach poorly treated effluent into the harbor; and the harbor still suffers from deteriorated visual character in some areas.  Additionally, conflicts still exist among the various user groups: areas that are more natural and pristine stand almost side-by-side with areas that are intensively developed (including a number of hazardous waste cleanup sites); vessel uses in these waters range from large commercial barges to small hand-powered and wind-powered recreational boats; and there are beaches within a stone’s throw of petroleum facilities.  Accommodating these varying conditions and uses, to achieve the optimal level of benefit for all parties involved, has been addressed in a  Harbor Management Plan for the harbor that was completed in 2004.  

NOTE: The information presented in this section is largely taken from the Harbor Management Plan for Hempstead Harbor and was derived largely from Hempstead Harbor: Its History, Ecology, and Environmental Challenges (Coalition to Save Hempstead Harbor, 1998), the Newsday series Our Towns (as obtained from the worldwide web), An Introduction to Glen Cove History (D.E. Russell), and the web sites of the various municipalities.


